COMPLETE REGULARITY OF LINEAR COCYCLES AND THE BAIRE CATEGORY OF THE SET OF LYAPUNOV-PERRON REGULAR POINTS

JAIRO BOCHI, YAKOV PESIN, AND OMRI SARIG

ABSTRACT. Given a continuous linear cocycle \mathcal{A} over a homeomorphism f of a compact metric space X, we investigate its set \mathcal{R} of Lyapunov-Perron regular points, that is, the collection of trajectories of f that obey the conclusions of the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem. We obtain results roughly saying that the set \mathcal{R} is of first Baire category (i.e., meager) in X, unless some rigid structure is present. In some settings, this rigid structure forces the Lyapunov exponents to be defined everywhere and to be independent of the point; that is what we call complete regularity.

Contents

1 Introduction	2
2. Preliminaries	- 3
2.1. Linear cocycles over continuous transformations	3
2.2. Lyapunov exponents and regularity of cocycles	3
2.3. Cohomology	4
2.4. The exterior power of cocycles	5
2.5. Uniform splittings	5
2.6. Vector bundle setting	6
2.7. Subadditivity	7
3. Completely regular cocycles	7
3.1. Definition and basic properties	7
3.2. Examples	. 9
3.3. Hölder continuous cocycles over hyperbolic dynamics	11
3.4. Relation with Sacker–Sell theory	12
4. The Baire category of sets of regular points	13
4.1. Baire category	13
4.2. Dynamically defined meager sets	14
4.3. A criterion for generic irregularity	15
4.4. Applications of the criterion	17
4.5. All-or-meager results	19
4.6. Singular values of cocycles	20
4.7. Proof of Theorem 4.10	22
5. Further discussion of the notion of complete regularity	23
5.1. All points being regular does not imply complete regularity	23
5.2. Agreement of Lyapunov spectra does not imply complete regularity	27
References	29
5.2. Agreement of Lyapunov spectra does not imply complete regularity References	$\frac{27}{29}$

Date: August 31, 2024.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 37D25; 37D30.

1. INTRODUCTION

Linear cocycles consist of products of matrices driven by some dynamical system. A precise description of the asymptotics of these products is available for those orbits that are Lyapunov-Perron (or LP) regular. The multiplicative ergodic theorem of Oseledets says that the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points is always large in a measure-theoretical sense: it has full measure with respect to any invariant probability measure. However, in many situations, the set \mathcal{R} is of first Baire category (i.e., meager) and so is small in a topological sense. Manifestations of this phenomenon in specific settings can be found in the works [55, 23, 56]. As for derivative cocycles, [1, Theorem 3.14] asserts that \mathcal{R} is a meager set for C^1 -generic diffeomorphisms.

Our objective is to investigate the Baire category of the set \mathcal{R} of Lyapunov-Perron regular points. More specifically, we aim to identify sufficient conditions under which \mathcal{R} is meager. We want these conditions to be as broadly applicable as possible.

As a guiding principle, if the set \mathcal{R} is non-meager, then some underlying rigid structure should account for this fact. Here is a result that corroborates this principle (Corollary 4.5): If the dynamics has the property that stable (or unstable) sets of periodic orbits are dense, then for every continuous cocycle, the set \mathcal{R} of LPregular points is meager, unless all periodic orbits have exactly the same Lyapunov spectrum. The hypothesis on the dynamics in Corollary 4.5 is quite general (allowing for nonuniformly hyperbolic maps, for instance), and there are no regularity assumptions on the cocycle other than continuity.

Under the strong assumption of minimality of the base dynamics, we obtain an even sharper dichotomy (Theorem 4.10): for every continuous cocycle, the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points is either meager or it is the whole space. Furthermore, in the latter case, the cocycle will have extra properties that we call *complete regularity*.

Given a continuous linear cocycle \mathcal{A} over any topological dynamical system f, complete regularity is defined by two requirements. They are: (1) every trajectory of f is LP-regular, (2) the Lyapunov spectrum of \mathcal{A} is independent of the point x. A restriction of a cocycle \mathcal{A} to a periodic orbit of f is a simple example of a completely regular cocycle.

If a cocycle is completely regular, then the Oseledets splitting is defined everywhere. We prove (Corollary 3.3) that the Oseledets splitting is uniformly dominated and, in particular, continuous.

It becomes apparent that complete regularity is pertinent to our study of the Baire category of the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points. Our most general criterion for meagerness of \mathcal{R} (Theorem 4.3) is actually formulated in terms of complete regularity. If the base dynamics f is hyperbolic and the cocycle \mathcal{A} is Hölder continuous, then we have a sharp dichotomy again (Theorem 4.8): either \mathcal{R} is meager or the cocycle is completely regular.

Complete regularity can be characterized in terms of the Sacker-Sell spectrum of the cocycle: see [33] and the discussion in Section 3.4 below.

Thus, motivated to understand the notion of complete regularity, we investigated whether the two requirements in the definition of complete regularity are independent. The short answer is yes: Section 5 exhibits examples of cocycles where one of the two conditions is satisfied but not the other. These examples are of independent interest.

Acknowledgements. We express our thanks to Boris Kalinin and Federico Rodriguez Hertz for helpful discussions. Y.P. was partially supported by NSF grant DMS 2153053. O.S. was partially supported by ISF grant 264/22 and by Minerva grant "Chaotic non-Anosov dynamical systems."

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we recall some basic notions about linear cocycles and Lyapunov exponents. Despite the fact that much of the material of this section makes sense in a measurable setting, we will assume continuity and compactness throughout.

2.1. Linear cocycles over continuous transformations. Let X be a topological space and $f: X \to X$ a homeomorphism. A function $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}(x, n), x \in X$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ with values in $GL(d, \mathbb{R})$ is called a *continuous linear cocycle* if the following properties hold:

(1) for each $x \in X$, we have $\mathcal{A}(x, 0) = \mathrm{Id}$, and given $n, k \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\mathcal{A}(x, n+k) = \mathcal{A}(f^k(x), n)\mathcal{A}(x, k);$$

(2) for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the function $\mathcal{A}(\cdot, n) \colon X \to \operatorname{GL}(d, \mathbb{R})$ is continuous.

Given a continuous function $A: X \to \operatorname{GL}(d, \mathbb{R})$, we define a cocycle by

$$\mathcal{A}(x,n) := \begin{cases} A(f^{n-1}(x)) \cdots A(f(x))A(x) & \text{if } n > 0\\ \text{Id} & \text{if } n = 0,\\ A(f^n(x))^{-1} \cdots A(f^{-2}(x))^{-1}A(f^{-1}(x))^{-1} & \text{if } n < 0. \end{cases}$$

We call the map A(x) the generator of the cocycle $\mathcal{A}(x,n)$ and we say that the cocycle is generated by the function A(x). Every cocycle $\mathcal{A}(x,n)$ is generated by the function $A(x) := \mathcal{A}(x, 1)$.

2.2. Lyapunov exponents and regularity of cocycles. Given a continuous cocycle \mathcal{A} over the homeomorphism f, we say that a point $x \in X$ is *regular* if there exist a list of numbers

(2.1)
$$\chi_1(x) > \chi_2(x) > \dots > \chi_{s(x)}(x)$$

and a splitting

(2.2)
$$\mathbb{R}^d = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{s(x)} E_i(x)$$

such that the following conditions are satisfied:

• for every i with $1 \leq i \leq s(x)$ and every nonzero vector v in the subspace $E_i(x)$, the limit

$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \left\| \mathcal{A}(x, n) v \right\|$$

exists and is equal to $\chi_i(x)$;

• for every partition of the set $\{1, \ldots, s(x)\}$ into two nonempty (disjoint) subsets I, J, we have

$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{|n|} \log \measuredangle \left(\mathcal{A}(x,n) \left(\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i(x) \right), \mathcal{A}(x,n) \left(\bigoplus_{j \in J} E_j(x) \right) \right) = 0,$$

where the angle $\measuredangle(E, F)$ between two subspaces is defined as the least nonnegative angle between two vectors in the corresponding spaces.

If x is a regular point, it can be shown that the Lyapunov exponents (2.1) and the Oseledets splitting (2.2) are uniquely defined. Let \mathcal{R} denote the set of regular points. It can be shown that \mathcal{R} is a Borel set and that the number s(x), the Lyapunov exponents $\chi_i(x)$, and Oseledets spaces $E_i(x)$ all depend Borel measurably on x, and that they satisfy the invariance relations:

$$s(f^{n}(x)) = s(x), \quad \chi_{i}(f^{n}(x)) = \chi_{i}(x), \quad E_{i}(f^{n}(x)) = \mathcal{A}(x, n)E_{i}(x).$$

According to the Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem of Oseledets, $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = 1$ for every f-invariant Borel probability measure μ on X. If μ is ergodic, then the Lyapunov exponent $\chi_i(x)$ is the same for μ -almost every x, and this common value is denoted $\chi_i(\mu)$.

The notion of regularity as defined above is equivalent to Lyapunov-Perron regularity (or LP regularity). There are also the notions of forward regularity and backwards regularity. We refer the reader to [7] for these definitions. We note that every Lyapunov-Perron regular point is both forward regular and backwards regular, but not conversely.

Here are some other properties that we will need: if x is forward regular, then

(2.3)
$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\| = \chi_1(x), \text{ and}$$

(2.4)
$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log m(\mathcal{A}(x,n)) = \chi_{s(x)}(x),$$

where

$$m(L) := \|L^{-1}\|^{-1}$$

is the *co-norm* of the linear map L. Furthermore, if $x \in \mathcal{R}$,

(2.5)
$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)| E_i(x)\| = \chi_i(x), \text{ and}$$

(2.6)
$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log m(\mathcal{A}(x, n) | E_i(x)) = \chi_i(x) \,.$$

Given a regular point $x \in \mathcal{R}$, the dimension $d_i(x)$ of the subbundle $E_i(x)$ is called the *multiplicity* of the Lyapunov exponent $\chi_i(x)$. The collection

$$\operatorname{Sp}(x) \coloneqq \left\{ (\chi_i(x), d_i(x)) : 1 \le i \le s(x) \right\}$$

is called the Lyapunov spectrum of the cocycle \mathcal{A} at x. Sometimes we will also use the *list* of values of the Lyapunov exponent

$$\widetilde{\chi}_1(x) \ge \cdots \ge \widetilde{\chi}_d(x)$$

in which distinct values $\chi_i(x)$ are repeated according to their multiplicities $d_i(x)$, $1 \leq i \leq s(x)$. When we want to stress the dependence on the cocycle, we use more explicit notations such as $\text{Sp}(\mathcal{A}, x)$, $\chi_i(\mathcal{A}, x)$, etc.

2.3. Cohomology. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be two cocycles over the same homeomorphism f, and of the same dimension. We say that they are *continuously cohomologous* if there exists a continuous conjugacy between them, that is, a continuous map $C: X \to \operatorname{GL}(d, \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\mathcal{A}(x,n) = C(f^n x)^{-1} \mathcal{B}(x,n) C(x)$$

Since C is continuous, it is tempered, and hence continuously cohomologous cocycles have the same set of Lyapunov–Perron regular points, and the same Lyapunov spectra.

2.4. The exterior power of cocycles. Consider the vector space of all alternating *i*-forms on \mathbb{R}^d , that is, the space of all multilinear maps from $\mathbb{R}^d \times \cdots \times \mathbb{R}^d$ (with *i* copies) to \mathbb{R} which are alternating. The dual of this vector space is denoted $(\mathbb{R}^d)^{\wedge i}$. There exists a canonical alternating multilinear map

$$(v_1,\ldots,v_i) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \cdots \times \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_i \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^{\wedge i}$$

called the *exterior product*. Given a linear operator L of \mathbb{R}^d , we define the *i*-fold exterior power $L^{\wedge i}$ as the unique linear operator of $(\mathbb{R}^d)^{\wedge i}$ such that

$$L^{\wedge i}(v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_i) = (Lv_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge Lv_i).$$

Let \mathcal{A} be a cocycle over a homeomorphism f of a topological space X. For each $i = 1, \ldots, n$ consider the cocycle $\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i} \colon X \times \mathbb{Z} \to \operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{R})^{\wedge i}$ defined by $\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}(x, n) = \mathcal{A}(x, n)^{\wedge i}$. We call $\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}$ the *i*-fold exterior power cocycle of \mathcal{A} . One can show (see [5, p. 211], [7, Section 3.1], or [47]) that

- (1) if $x \in X$ is a LP-regular point for the cocycle \mathcal{A} , then it is also a LP-regular point for the exterior power cocycle $\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}$;
- (2) the list of values of the Lyapunov exponents of the cocycle $\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}$ is

(2.7)
$$\{\widetilde{\chi}_k(\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}, x)\} = \{\widetilde{\chi}_{j_1}(\mathcal{A}, x) + \dots + \widetilde{\chi}_{j_i}(\mathcal{A}, x) : j_1 > \dots > j_i\};$$

in particular,

(2.8)
$$\widetilde{\chi}_1(\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}, x) = \widetilde{\chi}_1(\mathcal{A}, x) + \dots + \widetilde{\chi}_i(\mathcal{A}, x) \,.$$

2.5. Uniform splittings. Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X. Let \mathcal{A} be a continuous linear cocycle over f. Suppose that for each $x \in X$, we are given a splitting

(2.9)
$$\mathbb{R}^d = \bigoplus_{i=1}^s E_i(x)$$

where each dim $E_i(x)$ is independent of the point. Furthermore, assume that this splitting is \mathcal{A} -invariant in the sense that $\mathcal{A}(x,n)E_i(x) = E_i(f^n(x))$. We say that splitting is *dominated* if there exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for every point $x \in X$ and each i with 0 < i < s, we have:

(2.10)
$$m(\mathcal{A}(x,n_0)|E_i(x)) > 2\|\mathcal{A}(x,n_0)|E_{i+1}(x)\|.$$

Equivalently, for all choices of unit vectors $v_i \in E_i(x)$, we have:

$$\|\mathcal{A}(x, n_0)v_i\| > 2\|\mathcal{A}(x, n_0)v_{i+1}\|.$$

We say that the subbundle E_i dominates the subbundle E_{i+1} .

Let us emphasize that domination is a *uniform* property: the amount of time n_0 needed for the validity of the inequalities above is the same for every point x. In fact, this assumption is strong enough to force continuity (see [12, Section B.1] or [18, Section 2.1]):

Proposition 2.1. If (2.9) is a dominated splitting, then each subbundle $E_i(x)$ depends continuously on $x \in X$.

In particular, the angle between different subbundles of a dominated splitting is bounded below. Actually, for every partition of the set $\{1, \ldots, s\}$ into two nonempty (disjoint) subsets I, J, we have

$$\inf_{x \in X} \measuredangle \left(\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i(x), \bigoplus_{j \in J} E_j(x) \right) > 0.$$

Let us introduce two other uniform notions related to domination. Again, let \mathcal{A} be a continuous linear cocycle over f, and suppose we are given an \mathcal{A} -invariant splitting (2.9) into subspaces of constant dimensions. We say that the splitting is *absolutely dominated* if there exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for all pairs of points $x, y \in X$ and each i with 0 < i < s,

$$m(\mathcal{A}(x, n_0)|E_i(x)) > 2 \|\mathcal{A}(y, n_0)|E_{i+1}(y)\|$$

In particular, the splitting is dominated.

Finally, an \mathcal{A} -invariant splitting $\mathbb{R}^d = E^{\mathbf{u}}(x) \oplus E^{\mathbf{s}}(x)$ into two subbundles is called *uniformly hyperbolic* if if there exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for all point $x \in X$,

$$m(\mathcal{A}(x, n_0)|E^{\mathbf{u}}(x)) > 2 > \frac{1}{2} > ||\mathcal{A}(x, n_0)|E^{\mathbf{s}}(x)||.$$

Note that a uniformly hyperbolic splitting is always absolutely dominated.

The following characterization of uniform hyperbolicity was obtained by Sacker and Sell [50], Selgrade [53, Theorem 10.2], and Mañé [37]:

Proposition 2.2. Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X. Let \mathcal{A} be a continuous linear cocycle over f. Then \mathcal{A} admits a uniformly hyperbolic splitting if and only if for every point $x \in X$ and every nonzero vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\|\mathcal{A}(x,n)v\|=\infty.$$

For more information (including infinite-dimensional versions of the concepts discussed here), see [17,8] and references therein.

2.6. Vector bundle setting. If \mathcal{A} is a *d*-dimensional linear cocycle over $f: X \to X$ with generator A, we can consider the following transformation $T_{\mathcal{A}}$ of the product $X \times \mathbb{R}^d$:

$$T_{\mathcal{A}}(x,v) = (f(x), A(x)v).$$

This is a skew-product over f which is linear on fibers. The transformation $T_{\mathcal{A}}$ completely determines the cocycle.

This motivates considering the more general situation where the product space $X \times \mathbb{R}^d$ is replaced with a vector bundle over X of fiber dimension d, and the skew-product T_A is replaced with a continuous vector bundle automorphism F that factors over f. The concepts discussed above can be extended to this setting in a straightforward manner.

The fiber bundle setting allows us, for example, to discuss *derivative cocycles*: in this case, f is a C^1 diffeomorphism and we consider the induced automorphism F = Df on the tangent bundle.

For simplicity of presentation, in this paper we focus on linear cocycles (on trivial vector bundles $X \times \mathbb{R}^d$), but actually the statements remain correct for general vector bundles, unless noted otherwise.

2.7. Subadditivity. Recall that a sequence of functions $\varphi_n \colon X \to \mathbb{R}$ is called *subadditive* with respect to some dynamics $f \colon X \to X$ if, for all $n, m \ge 1$,

$$\varphi_{n+m} \leqslant \varphi_n \circ f^m + \varphi_m$$

A standard example is the sequence $\varphi_n(x) = \log ||\mathcal{A}(x, n)||$, where \mathcal{A} is cocycle over f.

Proposition 2.3 (Semi-uniform subadditive ergodic theorem [52, Theorem 1], [54, Theorem 1.7]). Let f be a continuous transformation of a compact metric space X. Consider a subadditive sequence of continuous functions $\varphi_n \colon X \to \mathbb{R}$. Then:

(2.11)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{X} \frac{\varphi_n}{n} = \sup_{\mu \in \mathcal{M}_f} \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_X \frac{\varphi_n}{n} \, d\mu \,,$$

where \mathcal{M}_f denotes the set of *f*-invariant Borel probability measures. Furthermore, the supremum in the right hand side is attained at some ergodic measure.

We note that variations of this result have been found by several authors (see e.g. $[25, \S 3]$). The most complete version is [41, Theorem A.3], which shows that upper-semicontinuity is sufficient, and provides several useful characterizations of the quantity (2.11).

Corollary 2.4. Let f be a continuous transformation of a compact metric space X. If φ is a continuous function such that $\int \varphi d\mu = c$ for every $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_f$, where c is a constant, then the Birkhoff averages of φ with respect to f converge uniformly to c.

Corollary 2.4 follows directly from Proposition 2.3, or from the usual proof that unique ergodicity implies uniform convergence in the ergodic theorem.

3. Completely regular cocycles

3.1. Definition and basic properties. Let X be a compact metric space and $f : X \to X$ a homeomorphism. Let $\mathcal{A} : X \times \mathbb{Z} \to \operatorname{GL}(d, \mathbb{R})$ be a continuous cocycle over f. We say that \mathcal{A} is *completely regular* if it satisfies the following two conditions:

- (1) every point $x \in X$ is LP-regular;
- (2) the Lyapunov exponents are independent of the point $x \in X$, i.e., there are numbers $\chi_1 > \cdots > \chi_s$ and d_1, \ldots, d_s such that $d_i > 0$ and $\sum_{i=1}^s d_i = d$ and $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{A}, x) = \{(\chi_i, d_i), i = 1, \ldots, s\}$ for every $x \in X$.

Therefore, if a cocycle is completely regular, then at every x we have an Oseledets splitting

(3.1)
$$\mathbb{R}^d = \bigoplus_{i=1}^s E_i(x)$$

where the number of subbundles and their dimensions are independent of the point. In general, the Oseledets splitting is only measurable and there is no a priori information on the speed of convergence in (2.5) and (2.6). However, under the assumption of complete regularity, we obtain better properties, as the following result shows.

Theorem 3.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a completely regular cocycle over a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X. Let (3.1) be its Oseledets splitting. Then for each i with $1 \leq i \leq s$ the following statements hold:

- (1) the subspace $E_i(x)$ depends continuously on x;
- (2) the limits in (2.5) and (2.6) are both uniform with respect to x; more precisely, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ we can find N such that

(3.2)

$$\chi_{i} - \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{n} \log m(\mathcal{A}(x, n) | E_{i}(x))$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x, n) | E_{i}(x) \| \leq \chi_{i} + \varepsilon$$
for every $|n| > N$ and $x \in X$.

Before proving the statement above in full generality, we establish first the case s = 1, where actually a weaker hypothesis suffices:

Proposition 3.2. Let \mathcal{A} be a continuous linear cocycle over a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X. Suppose that there exists a number $\chi \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for every f-invariant Borel probability measure μ on X, for μ -almost every $x \in X$, all Lyapunov exponents at x are equal to χ . Then, for all $x \in X$,

$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log m(\mathcal{A}(x, n)) = \lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x, n)\|$$

and these limits are uniform with respect to x.

Proof. It is sufficient to consider positive times n, since negative times can be dealt with using the inverse cocycle. Consider the subadditive sequence of continuous functions $\varphi_n(x) = \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\|$. By assumption, the sequence $\frac{\varphi_n(x)}{n}$ converges pointwise to the constant χ . It follows from Proposition 2.3 that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in X} \frac{\varphi_n(x)}{n} = \chi.$$

Similarly, the sequence $\psi_n(x) = \log m(\mathcal{A}(x, n))$ is superadditive and $\frac{\psi_n(x)}{n}$ converges pointwise to the constant χ , implying that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \inf_{x \in X} \frac{\psi_n(x)}{n} = \chi$$

Since $\psi_n \leqslant \varphi_n$, we conclude that both limits $\frac{\varphi_n}{n} \to \chi$ and $\frac{\psi_n}{n} \to \chi$ are uniform. \Box

Proof of Theorem 3.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a completely regular cocycle, with Oseledets splitting $\mathbb{R}^d = \bigoplus_{i=1}^s E_i(x)$. Let $\chi_1 > \cdots > \chi_s$ be the Lyapunov expoents, which are independent of $x \in X$. The case s = 1 is covered by Proposition 3.2, so assume that $s \ge 2$.

Let us prove Statement (1), i.e., continuity of the subbundles $E_i(x)$. Fix numbers c_1, \ldots, c_{s-1} such that $\chi_i > c_i > \chi_{i+1}$. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, s-1\}$, consider the cocycle $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_i = e^{-c_i} \mathcal{A}$. This cocycle admits an invariant measurable splitting $E_i^{\mathrm{u}}(x) \oplus E_i^{\mathrm{s}}(x)$, where

 $E_i^{\mathrm{u}}(x) = E_1(x) \oplus \cdots \oplus E_i(x), \quad E_i^{\mathrm{s}}(x) = E_{i+1}(x) \oplus \cdots \oplus E_s(x).$

Note that all Lyapunov exponents of the cocycle $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_i$ along $E_i^{\mathrm{u}}(x)$ (respectively, $E_i^{\mathrm{s}}(x)$) are positive (respectively, negative), and in particular, this cocycle is nonuniformly hyperbolic at *every* point $x \in X$. We claim that this cocycle is actually uniformly hyperbolic. Indeed, if this were not the case, by Proposition 2.2), there would exist a point $x_0 \in X$ and a nonzero vector $v_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \left\| \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_i(x_0, n) v_0 \right\| < \infty,$$

i.e., v_0 has a bounded orbit. Boundedness for the future forces v_0 to belong to $E_i^{s}(x_0)$ but boundedness for the past forces v_0 to belong to $E_i^{u}(x_0)$. But the two bundles are transverse, and this contradiction proves uniform hyperbolicity.

As a consequence of uniform hyperbolicity, the bundles $E_i^{\rm u}$ and $E_i^{\rm s}$ are continuous. In particular, $E_1 = E_1^{\rm u}$ and $E_s = E_s^{\rm s}$ are continuous. Furthermore, for each i, the bundle E_i is the transverse intersection of $E_i^{\rm u}$ and $E_{i-1}^{\rm s}$, and therefore, it is continuous as well. This completes the proof of Statement (1).

Now we apply Proposition 3.2 (or actually its extension to the vector bundle setting) to the restrictions $\mathcal{A}(x,n)|E_i(x)$. We then obtain the desired uniformity property, Statement (2).

As an important consequence of Theorem 3.1, we obtain the property of absolute domination (defined in Section 2.5 above):

Corollary 3.3. Given a completely regular cocycle, its Oseledets splitting (3.1) is either trivial (i.e., s = 1) or absolutely dominated.

Proof. Let \mathcal{A} be a completely regular cocycle with spectrum $(\chi_i, d_i)_{i=1,...,s}$. Assume that s > 1. Fix a positive number ε small enough so that $\chi_i - \varepsilon > \chi_{i+1} + \varepsilon$ for each i with 0 < i < s. Let N be as in Statement (2) in Theorem 3.1. Then, for all n > N, all $x, y \in X$, and all i with 0 < i < s, we have

$$m(\mathcal{A}(x,n)|E_i(x)) \ge e^{(\chi_i - \varepsilon)n} > e^{(\chi_{i+1} + \varepsilon)n} \ge \|\mathcal{A}(y,n)|E_{i+1}(y)\|.$$

This proves absolute domination.

It is clear that complete regularity is invariant under continuous cohomology. Here is another basic property:

Proposition 3.4. The exterior power of a completely regular cocycle is completely regular.

Proof. This follows immediately from the discussion in Subsection 2.4. \Box

3.2. Examples. We present some examples of completely regular cocycles.

Example 3.5. A one-dimensional continuous linear cocycle with generator A (which in this case takes values in $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$) is completely regular if and only if the forward and backward limits of Birkhoff averages of the function $\varphi(x) := \log |A(x)|$ exist everywhere and are equal to some constant c. Equivalently (see Corollary 2.4), $\int \varphi d\mu = c$ for every f-invariant Borel probability measure μ . Another equivalent condition is that $\varphi - c$ is a uniform limit of continuous coboundaries (see [42] or [13, Lemma 3]).

Example 3.6. If the space X is finite and $f: X \to X$ is a cyclic permutation, that is, if the dynamics consists of a single periodic trajectory, then any cocycle over f is completely regular.

Example 3.7. Now assume that f is a uniquely ergodic homeomorphism, and that the cocycle \mathcal{A} takes values in $\mathrm{SL}^{\pm}(2,\mathbb{R})$ (the subgroup of $\mathrm{GL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ formed by matrices with determinant ± 1). Let μ be the unique invariant probability measure for f, which is necessarily ergodic, and let $\chi_1 = \chi_1(\mu)$ and $\chi_2 = \chi_2(\mu)$. By the hypothesis on the determinant, $\chi_1 \ge 0 \ge \chi_2 = -\chi_1$.

There are three mutually exclusive cases:

(1) $\chi_1 = 0 = \chi_2$.

- (2) $\chi_1 > 0 > \chi_2$ and the cocycle is uniformly hyperbolic.
- (3) $\chi_1 > 0 > \chi_2$ and the cocycle is not uniformly hyperbolic.

Proposition 3.8. Consider a continuous $SL^{\pm}(2, \mathbb{R})$ -cocycle over a uniquely ergodic homeomorphism. Then, the cocycle is completely regular in cases (1) and (2) above, and it is not completely regular in case (3).

Proof. Note that $m(\mathcal{A}(x,n)) = ||\mathcal{A}(x,n)||$, since determinants are ± 1 . Consider case (1). By Proposition 3.2, $\frac{1}{n} \log ||\mathcal{A}(x,n)||$ converges uniformly to zero. It follows that every $x \in X$ is LP-regular with zero Lyapunov exponents. In particular, the cocycle is completely regular.

Next, consider the uniformly hyperbolic case (2). The hyperbolic bundles are continuous, invariant, and one-dimensional. Unique ergodicity of the base dynamics then implies that the cocycle is completely regular.

Finally, consider the nonuniformly hyperbolic case (3). If the cocycle were completely regular, then, by Corollary 3.3, it would admit a dominated splitting into one-dimensional bundles. Since $|\det A(x)| \equiv 1$, that splitting would actually be uniformly hyperbolic, contrary to our assumption. This shows that case (3) forbids complete regularity.

If f is an irrational rotation of the circle, simple examples of cocycles in situation (3) were obtained by Herman [28]. The existence of cocycles of type (3) for any uniquely ergodic dynamics with a non-atomic invariant measure was established only recently by Avila and Damanik [6], answering a question of Walters [58].

We point out that Proposition 3.8 is essentially contained in [25]. For related results, see [19].

Remark 3.9. Given a cocycle \mathcal{A} over a homeomorphism f, and an f-invariant and ergodic Borel probability measure μ , we define the Lyapunov spectrum $\text{Sp}(\mathcal{A}, \mu)$ as equal to $\text{Sp}(\mathcal{A}, x)$ for μ -almost every $x \in X$. Proposition 3.2 shows that if $\text{Sp}(\mathcal{A}, \mu)$ is the same for all ergodic measures μ and consists of a single Lyapunov exponent, then the cocycle \mathcal{A} is completely regular. On the other hand, the condition in italics cannot be dropped: consider for instance any cocycle of type (3) in Proposition 3.8.

Example 3.10. Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X, $c_1 > \cdots > c_s$ a list of distinct real numbers, and d_1, \ldots, d_s positive integers such that $d = d_1 + \cdots + d_s$. Suppose that $B : X \to \operatorname{GL}(d, \mathbb{R})$ is a continuous block-diagonal matrix function

(3.3)
$$B(x) = \begin{pmatrix} B_1(x) & 0 \\ & \ddots & \\ 0 & & B_s(x) \end{pmatrix},$$

where each diagonal block $B_i(x)$ has dimension $d_i \times d_i$ and has block-triangular form

(3.4)
$$B_{i}(x) = e^{c_{i}} \begin{pmatrix} U_{i,1}(x) & * & * \\ & U_{i,2}(x) & \ddots & \\ & & \ddots & * \\ 0 & & & U_{i,\ell_{i}}(x) \end{pmatrix}$$

where each matrix $U_{i,j}(x)$ is orthogonal.

Consider the cocycle $\mathcal{B}(x,n)$ with generator B(x). Then, this cocycle is completely regular, with Lyapunov exponents c_1, \ldots, c_s , and respective multiplicities d_1, \ldots, d_s .

Example 3.11. We extend the previous example. Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X, let \mathcal{E} be a continuous vector bundle over X whose fibers $\mathcal{E}(x)$ have dimension d, and let $F: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ be an automorphism that factors over f. We say that F admits a *continuous amenable reduction*¹ if there exist

- real numbers $c_1 > \cdots > c_s$;
- positive integers d_1, \ldots, d_s such that $d = d_1 + \cdots + d_s$;
- a continuous family on inner products on the fibers $\mathcal{E}(x)$ (called a "metric");
- a continuous *F*-invariant splitting

$$\mathcal{E}_1(x) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{E}_s(x) = \mathcal{E}(x)$$

- where each subbundle \mathcal{E}_i has dimension d_i ;
- for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$, a continuous *F*-invariant field of flags

$$\{0\} = \mathcal{E}_{i,0}(x) \subset \mathcal{E}_{i,1}(x) \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{E}_{i,\ell_i}(x) = \mathcal{E}_i(x)$$

such that, for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ and $j \in \{1, \ldots, \ell_i\}$, the action induced by F on the quotient bundle $\mathcal{E}_{i,j}/\mathcal{E}_{i,j-1}$ expands the (induced) metric by a constant factor e^{c_i} .

In this case, the vector bundle automorphism F is completely regular, with Lyapunov exponents c_1, \ldots, c_s , and respective multiplicities d_1, \ldots, d_s .

Existence of a continuous amenable reduction is invariant with respect to continuous cohomology. The cocycle \mathcal{B} in Example 3.10 admits a continuous amenable reduction where the spaces $\mathcal{E}_{i,j}$ are independent of x. In particular, if a cocycle \mathcal{A} is continuously cohomologous to a cocycle \mathcal{B} as in Example 3.10, then \mathcal{A} admits a continuous amenable reduction. The converse is not true, since there is no guarantee that the subbundles $\mathcal{E}_{i,j}$ are trivializable.

Example 3.12. Consider any surface diffeomorphism of class C^1 admitting a homoclinic tangency, that is, a hyperbolic fixed point p whose stable and unstable manifolds are tangent at a point q. Let X be the the closure of the orbit of q and consider the derivative cocycle Df restricted to X. This cocycle has a unique LP-regular point, namely p.

This example has the property that all points in X are both forward and backwards regular and the Lyapunov exponents for future and past agree, but nevertheless the cocycle is not completely regular.

3.3. Hölder continuous cocycles over hyperbolic dynamics. We will discuss a setting where it is possible to obtain a concrete description of all completely regular cocycles. The result is stated in terms of vector bundle automorphisms (see Section 2.6) and continuous amenable reduction (see Example 3.11). Actually, we will work with Hölder continuous vector bundles and their automorphisms (see [35, § 2.2], [10, § 2.2–2.3]).

Theorem 3.13. Assume that X is a compact smooth manifold and $f : X \to X$ is a transitive $C^{1+\delta}$ Anosov diffeomorphism. Let \mathcal{E} be a Hölder vector bundle over X and let $A: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ be a Hölder automorphism that factors over f. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

¹The terminology comes from [35], but the two definitions are not exactly the same as we assume extra properties.

- (1) F is completely regular;
- (2) F admits a continuous amenable reduction;
- (3) $\operatorname{Sp}(F,p) = \operatorname{Sp}(F,q)$ for all pairs of periodic points p,q.

Furthermore, if any of these conditions hold, then the subbundles and the metric composing the amenable reduction of F can be taken Hölder continuous, with the same Hölder exponent as the initial data.

Proof. The implications $(2) \Rightarrow (1) \Rightarrow (3)$ are automatic (and independent of f being Anosov or F being Hölder). We are left to prove that $(3) \Rightarrow (2)$.

So assume (3), that is, all periodic points have a common Lyapunov spectrum $(\chi_i, d_i)_{i=1}^s$. As shown by Guysinsky [27] and DeWitt–Gogolev [21, Theorems 1.2 and 3.10], the cocycle admits a dominated splitting $\mathcal{E}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{E}_s$ where dim $\mathcal{E}_i = d_i$. In our setting, the subbundles \mathcal{E}_i of a dominated splitting are Hölder continuous (see [14]). Consider the restriction of the automorphism F to one of these subbundles \mathcal{E}_i . By a result of Kalinin and Sadovskaya [35, Theorem 3.9], there exists a Hölder continuous metric (i.e. family of inner products) on $\mathcal{E}_i(x)$ and an invariant Hölder continuous field of flags

$$\{0\} = \mathcal{E}_{i,0}(x) \subset \mathcal{E}_{i,1}(x) \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{E}_{i,\ell_i}(x) = \mathcal{E}_i(x)$$

such that the action induced by F on the quotient bundle $\mathcal{E}_{i,j}/\mathcal{E}_{i,j-1}$ expands the (induced) metric by a constant factor $e^{\varphi_i(x)}$, where φ_i is a Hölder function on X. In our situation, φ_i has the same integral with respect to all invariant probability measures supported on periodic orbits, namely χ_i . Therefore we can apply Livsic theorem and write $\varphi_i = \chi_i + \psi_i \circ f - \psi_i$, where ψ_i is a Hölder continuous function. We rescale the Riemannian metric inside $\mathcal{E}_i(x)$ by multiplying it by $e^{-\psi_i(x)}$, so that the new expansion factor is the constant e^{χ_i} . Then we combine these metrics by declaring the subbundles $\mathcal{E}_i(x)$ to be orthogonal. This shows that F admits a Hölder continuous ameanable reduction.

Let us note that in dimension d = 1, Theorem 3.13 is equivalent to Livsic theorem for the group $(\mathbb{R}, +)$. Since Livsic theorem does not hold for functions that are merely continuous instead of Hölder (see [13, p. 215] or [36]), the regularity hypothesis on the automorphism is necessary for the validity of our statement.

On the other hand, we believe that Theorem 3.13 holds for (transitive) Anosov diffeomorphisms of class C^1 (instead of $C^{1+\delta}$), or even for (transitive) hyperbolic homeomorphisms (see e.g. [49, Chapter 7], [4, Part II], [2, Chapter 11]).

We mention here the work [16] concerning the uniformity of the first Lyapunov exponent in a related setting.

3.4. Relation with Sacker–Sell theory. Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X. We assume that f is *invariantly connected*, i.e., the only invariant clopen sets are \emptyset and X. This condition is satisfied if f is transitive or X is connected.

Let \mathcal{A} be a continuous linear *d*-dimensional cocycle over *f*. For each real number λ , we define a cocycle

$$\mathcal{A}_{\lambda}(x,n) := e^{-\lambda n} \mathcal{A}(x,n)$$

The Sacker-Sell spectrum of \mathcal{A} is the set

 $SS(\mathcal{A}) \coloneqq \{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : \mathcal{A}_{\lambda} \text{ is not uniformly hyperbolic}\}.$

12

(Here hyperbolic subbundles are allowed to be $\{0\}$.) According to [51, Theorem 2] (see also [33, Theorem 2.4]), the Sacker–Sell spectrum is a compact subset of \mathbb{R} with at most d connected components, that is,

(3.5)
$$\mathrm{SS}(\mathcal{A}) = [\alpha_1, \beta_1] \cup \cdots \cup [\alpha_s, \beta_s], \quad (s \leq d).$$

Furthermore, there exists an absolutely dominated splitting (see Section 2.5 above) into s bundles,

(3.6)
$$\mathbb{R}^d = E_1(x) \oplus \cdots \oplus E_s(x)$$

As a consequence of domination (recall Proposition 2.1), the subbundles vary continuously with x. As shown by Johnson, Palmer, and Sell [32, Theorem 2.3] the boundary points α_i , β_i of the connected components of the Sacker-Sell spectrum can be characterized in terms the Lyapunov exponents as follows. If we reindex the intervals in (3.5) so that $\beta_1 \ge \alpha_1 > \cdots > \beta_s \ge \alpha_s$, then, for every i we have

(3.7)
$$\beta_i = \sup_{\mu} \widetilde{\chi}_1(\mathcal{A}|E_i,\mu) +$$

(3.8)
$$\alpha_i = \inf_{\mu} \widetilde{\chi}_{d_i}(\mathcal{A}|E_i,\mu) \,,$$

where μ runs on the set of ergodic measures; furthermore, each sup and each inf are attained. Using Proposition 2.3, we can characterize these numbers as:

$$\beta_i = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in X} \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x, n)| E_i \|,$$

$$\alpha_i = \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf_{x \in X} \frac{1}{n} \log m(\mathcal{A}(x, n)| E_i).$$

Note that the Sacker–Sell splitting (3.6) is actually the *finest* absolutely dominated splitting for the cocycle \mathcal{A} , that is, the absolutely dominated splitting into the maximal number of subbundles.

The Sacker–Sell spectrum is a discrete set if and only if $\alpha_i = \beta_i$ for each $i = 1, \ldots, s$. Cocycles with discrete Sacker–Sell spectrum were studied by Johnson and Zampogni [33]. It turns out that this property coincides with complete regularity:

Theorem 3.14. A continuous cocycle \mathcal{A} over an invariantly connected homeomorphism f has discrete Sacker–Sell spectrum if and only if it is completely regular.

Proof. The fact that discrete Sacker–Sell spectrum implies complete regularity is the content of [33, Proposition 3.1]; it also follows directly from the fundamental facts listed above. For the converse implication, if \mathcal{A} is completely regular with exponents $\chi_1 > \cdots > \chi_s$, then by Corollary 3.3, its Oseledets splitting is the finest absolutely dominated splitting, and by relations (3.7), (3.8) we have $\beta_i = \chi_i = \alpha_i$ for each *i*, showing that \mathcal{A} has discrete Sacker–Sell spectrum.

There is another classical object associated to a linear cocycle called the *Mather* spectrum (see [38], [45, § 3.1]), which is directly related to the Sacker-Sell spectrum (see [17, Corollary 6.45]).

4. The Baire category of sets of regular points

4.1. **Baire category.** Recall that a subset A in a topological space X is called *nowhere dense* if its closure \overline{A} has empty interior. A subset $A \subset X$ is said to be of the 1st Baire category if it can be represented as a union of a countable collection of

nowhere dense sets, and of 2^{nd} Baire category otherwise. Sets of 1^{st} Baire category are also called *meager*. Note that any subset of a meager set is a meager set.

A subset $A \subset X$ is called *residual* if its complement is meager. If X is a complete metric space, then residual sets are of 2^{nd} Baire category. In particular, X and every other dense G_{δ} set are of the second category.

Like the collection of sets of probability zero, the collection of meager sets contains the empty set, is closed under countable unions, is hereditary, and is proper. Therefore, one can think of meager sets as being "small." See [44] for a full discussion.

4.2. Dynamically defined meager sets. We now describe a general mechanism for the occurrence of meager sets. Let X be a complete metric space and $(\varphi_n)_{n>0}$ a sequence of real-valued continuous functions on X. Given numbers $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, define the following sets

$$I_{\alpha} \coloneqq \left\{ x \in X \colon \liminf \varphi_n(x) < \alpha \right\},\$$

$$S_{\beta} \coloneqq \left\{ x \in X \colon \limsup \varphi_n(x) > \beta \right\}.$$

Theorem 4.1. Assume that there are real numbers $\alpha < \beta$ such that both set I_{α} and S_{β} are dense in X. Then the set of points $x \in X$ for which $\lim_{n\to\infty} \varphi_n(x)$ exists is meager.

Proof. Fix numbers $\alpha < \alpha' < \alpha'' < \beta'' < \beta' < \beta$. Letting

$$\widetilde{I}_{\alpha'} := \bigcap_{m=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=m}^{\infty} \left\{ x \in X \colon \varphi_n(x) < \alpha' \right\},\$$

we have $I_{\alpha} \subset I_{\alpha'} \subset I_{\alpha''}$. The set I_{α} is dense, by assumption, and the set $I_{\alpha'}$ is a G_{δ} . Therefore the set $I_{\alpha''}$ contains a dense G_{δ} , so it is residual. Similarly, $S_{\beta''}$ is residual. Thus, the set $I_{\alpha''} \cap S_{\beta''}$ is residual, and for any point in this set, $\lim_{n\to\infty} \varphi_n(x)$ does not exist.

Without trying to be comprehensive, let us illustrate how Theorem 4.1 can be applied to a simple dynamical setting. Suppose that $f: X \to X$ is a continuous transformation of a compact metric space. Given a (say) continuous function $\varphi: X \to \mathbb{R}$, consider the sequence of Birkhoff averages

$$\varphi_n(x) \coloneqq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \varphi(f^k(x))$$

and let \mathcal{R}_{φ} be the set of points $x \in X$ for which $\lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi_n(x)$ exists. By Birkhoff ergodic theorem, we know that this set has full measure with respect to any invariant probability measure and hence, is "large" from the measure-theoretical point of view. But what can we say about the Baire category of this set?

Following [3], a (perhaps noninvertible) continuous transformation f of a compact metric space X is called *strongly transitive* if the *backward orbit* $\bigcup_{n\geq 0} f^{-n}(x)$ of every point $x \in X$ is dense in X. Examples include any minimal homeomorphism, any transitive one-sided subshift of finite type, and the restriction of any rational map of $\overline{\mathbb{C}}$ to its Julia set (see [40, Corollary 4.13]).

Theorem 4.2. Let $f: X \to X$ be a strongly transitive map, and let $\varphi: X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function. Then the set \mathcal{R}_{φ} of points of convergence of Birkhoff averages

is either a meager set or the whole space X. In the latter case, the Birkhoff averages of φ with respect to f converge uniformly to a constant.

Proof. Suppose that the Birkhoff averages do not converge uniformly to a constant. By Corollary 2.4, there exist two ergodic Borel probability measures μ_1 and μ_2 such that $\int \varphi \, d\mu_1 \neq \int \varphi \, d\mu_2$. For i = 1, 2, let \mathcal{B}_i be the set of points x such that $\varphi_n(x) \to \int \varphi \, d\mu_1$. These sets are nonempty and invariant. In particular, they contain full backward orbits. It follows from strong transitivity that both sets \mathcal{B}_1 and \mathcal{B}_2 are dense in X. It follows from Theorem 4.1 that the set of convergence \mathcal{R}_{φ} is meager.

The literature contains many related results; we mention [31, Theorem 4.3.(2)], [2, Theorem 11, p. 166], and [15]. The general message is that the set of points for which Birkhoff ergodic theorem holds, while large from a measure-theoretic viewpoint, is often meager.

As it is reasonable to expect, similar phenomena for the multiplicative ergodic theorem of Oseledets occur in a variety of contexts: we mention [1, Theorem 3.14], [55], [39], and [56]. We now turn to our investigation of this matter, where the previously discussed concept of complete regularity will naturally enter into the picture.

4.3. A criterion for generic irregularity. We now come back to the setting of continuous linear cocycles. We will formulate a sufficient condition for the set of LP-regular points to be meager. Our condition uses the notion of complete regularity studied above.

Given a homeomorphism f of a compact metric space X and a nonempty subset $Y \subset X$, we define the *stable set* of Y as

$$W^{s}(Y) = \left\{ x \in X : d(f^{n}(x), Y) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to +\infty \right\}.$$

Now we can state the following result:

Theorem 4.3. Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X and let \mathcal{A} be a continuous linear cocycle over f. Assume that there exist two f-invariant disjoint compact subsets $X_1, X_2 \subset X$ such that

- (1) the stable sets $W^{s}(X_{1})$ and $W^{s}(X_{2})$ are both dense in X;
- (2) the restrictions of the cocycle \mathcal{A} to X_1 and X_2 , denoted $\mathcal{A}|X_1$ and $\mathcal{A}|X_2$, are both completely regular;
- (3) the cocycles $\mathcal{A}|X_1$ and $\mathcal{A}|X_2$ have different Lyapunov spectra, that is, Sp $(\mathcal{A}|X_1) \neq$ Sp $(\mathcal{A}|X_2)$.

Then the set \mathcal{FR} of points which are forward regular for the cocycle \mathcal{A} is meager and, in particular, so is the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points.

The proof of this theorem will use Theorem 4.1 above and also the following lemma:

Lemma 4.4. Let $Y \subset X$ be a compact f-invariant subset such that the restriction of the cocycle \mathcal{A} to Y is completely regular with Lyapunov exponents $\chi_1 > \cdots > \chi_s$. Then, for every $x \in W^{s}(Y)$,

(4.1)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x, n)\| = \chi_1.$$

Proof. It follows from the definition of complete regularity and property (2.3) that the desired conclusion (4.1) holds for every point in Y. Actually, it follows from Theorem 3.1 that the limit in (4.1) is uniform over Y. In particular, given $\varepsilon > 0$, we can find N > 0 such that, for all $y \in Y$,

$$\frac{1}{N}\log\|\mathcal{A}(y,N)\| < \chi_1 + \varepsilon.$$

By continuity, if d(x, Y) is sufficiently small, then

$$\frac{1}{N}\log \|\mathcal{A}(x,N)\| < \chi_1 + 2\varepsilon \,.$$

Then, as a straightforward consequence of submultiplicativity of norms, we have

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x, n)\| \leq \chi_1 + 2\varepsilon$$

for all $x \in W^{s}(Y)$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, the limsup above is actually $\leq \chi_{1}$ for all $x \in W^{s}(Y)$.

In order to obtain an inequality in the reverse direction, fix $\varepsilon > 0$ again. Using Theorem 3.1 we find N > 0 such that, for all points $y \in Y$ and all unit vectors $u \in E_1(y)$,

(4.2)
$$\frac{1}{N} \log \|\mathcal{A}(y, N)u\| > \chi_1 - \varepsilon.$$

Since the cocycle \mathcal{A} restricted to the compact invariant set Y admits a dominated splitting with dominating bundle E_1 , we can define a family of cones $C(y) \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ depending continuously on $y \in Y$ with the following properties: for every $y \in Y$, we have $E_1(y) \subset C(y)$ and

$$\overline{\mathcal{A}(y,1)(C(y))} \subset \operatorname{int}(C(y)) \cup \{0\} \quad (\text{strict invariance}).$$

Such a cone field is easily constructed using an adapted metric: see [26, 18]. The subbundle attracts vectors in the cone field in the following sense: for every $y \in Y$ and every unit vector $u \in C(y)$,

(4.3)
$$\measuredangle \left(\mathcal{A}(y,n)u, E_1(f^n(y)) \right) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

and this convergence is actually uniform with respect to y and u. We extend continuously the cone field to a neighborhood U of Y so that the strict invariance property is satisfied for points in $U \cap f^{-1}(U)$.

Fix $x \in W^{s}(Y)$. Replacing x by an iterate if necessary, we assume that $f^{n}(x) \in U$ for every $n \ge 0$. Fix any unit vector $v \in C(x)$. It follows from property (4.3) that there exist a sequence of points $y_{n} \in Y$ and a sequence of unit vectors $u_{n} \in E_{1}(y_{n})$ such that

$$d(f^n(x), y_n) \to 0$$
 and $\measuredangle(\mathcal{A}(x, n)v, u_n) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$.

Inequality (4.2) applies to each pair $(y, u) = (y_n, u_n)$. For every sufficiently large n, the pair $(f^n(x), \frac{\mathcal{A}(x,n)v}{\|\mathcal{A}(x,n)v\|})$ is close to (y_n, u_n) , and therefore

$$\frac{1}{N}\log\frac{\|\mathcal{A}(x,n+N)v\|}{\|\mathcal{A}(x,n)v\|} > \chi_1 - 2\varepsilon.$$

Now it is straightforward to check that

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x, n)v\| \ge \chi_1 - 2\varepsilon.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, the limit above is actually $\ge \chi_1$ for all $x \in W^{s}(Y)$. The proof of the lemma is completed.

Proof of Theorem 4.3. For each j = 1, 2, let $\tilde{\chi}_1^j \ge \cdots \ge \tilde{\chi}_d^j$ be the list of values of the Lyapunov exponent of the cocycle $\mathcal{A}|X_j$, where each value is repeated according to multiplicity. By assumption, these two lists are not identical.

We first assume that $\tilde{\chi}_1^1 \neq \tilde{\chi}_1^2$. For definiteness, assume that $\tilde{\chi}_1^1 > \tilde{\chi}_1^2$. Consider the sequence of continuous functions

(4.4)
$$\varphi_n(x) = \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\|, \quad x \in X.$$

By Lemma 4.4, for each j = 1, 2, we have $\lim \varphi_n(x) = \tilde{\chi}_1^j$ for all $x \in W^s(X_j)$. Each of these stable sets is dense, by hypothesis. Applying Theorem 4.1 with $\alpha = \tilde{\chi}_1^2$ and $\beta = \tilde{\chi}_1^1$, we obtain that the set of points for which $\lim_{n\to\infty} \varphi_n(x)$ exists is meager and hence, so is its subset \mathcal{FR} of forward regular points (see [7]). This completes the proof of the theorem in the particular case when $\tilde{\chi}_1^1 \neq \tilde{\chi}_1^2$.

We now proceed with the general case and show how to reduce it to the previous one by using exterior powers. As explained in Subsection 2.4, a regular point $x \in X$ for the cocycle \mathcal{A} is also a regular point for the exterior power cocycle $\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}$. Now let *i* be the smallest index such that $\tilde{\chi}_1^j \neq \tilde{\chi}_1^j$, that is, $\tilde{\chi}_i(\mathcal{A}|X_1) \neq \tilde{\chi}_i(\mathcal{A}|X_2)$. Then, by formula (2.8), we obtain that

$$\widetilde{\chi}_1(\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}|X_1) \neq \widetilde{\chi}_1(\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}|X_2).$$

Since the cocycle \mathcal{A} is completely regular on subsets X_1 and X_2 , the exterior power cocycle $\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}$ is also completely regular on these sets (see Proposition 3.4). By the previous case, the set of forward regular points for the cocycle $\mathcal{A}^{\wedge i}$ is meager, and hence, so is the set of forward regular points for the cocycle \mathcal{A} . This completes the proof of the theorem.

4.4. Applications of the criterion. We present some corollaries of Theorem 4.3.

If p is a periodic point for f, let O(p) denote the orbit of p. Given any linear cocycle \mathcal{A} over f, the periodic point p is LP-regular, and its Lyapunov exponents can be computed from the eigenvalues of the matrix $\mathcal{A}(p,k)$, where k is the period of p.

Corollary 4.5. Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X and let A be a continuous linear cocycle over f. Suppose there are two periodic points $p, q \in X$ such that

(1) the stable sets $W^{s}(O(p))$ and $W^{s}(O(q))$ are both dense in X; (2) $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{A}, p) \neq \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{A}, q)$.

Then the set \mathcal{FR} of points which are forward regular for the cocycle \mathcal{A} is meager and, in particular, so is the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points.

Proof. Recall from Example 3.6 that the restriction of the cocycle \mathcal{A} to any periodic orbit is completely regular. The result now follows from Theorem 4.3.

There are situations where Theorem 4.3 applies, but Corollary 4.5 does not. For example, suppose $\varphi^t \colon M \to M$ is a transitive Anosov flow of a compact manifold. If $t_0 > 0$ is small enough, then $f := \varphi^{t_0}$ has no periodic points, so we are out of the scope of Corollary 4.5. Suppose x_1 and x_2 are periodic points for the flow, and let X_1 and X_2 be the respective orbits. Then the restrictions $f|X_1$ and $f|X_2$ are conjugate to irrational rotations. If \mathcal{A} is any continuous cocycle over f whose restrictions $\mathcal{A}|X_1$ and $\mathcal{A}|X_2$ are completely regular but have different Lyapunov spectra, then its set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points is meager in M. Indeed, the stable sets $W^{s}(X_1)$ and $W^{s}(X_2)$ are dense (see e.g. [24, Theorem 2.6.10]), so Theorem 4.3 applies.

On the other hand, there is a particular setting of the dynamics in which the denseness hypothesis in Corollary 4.5 is naturally satisfied, namely homoclinic classes. We recall the definition.

Let $f: M \to M$ be a C^1 diffeomorphism of a compact smooth Riemannian manifold M. Let also $p, q \in M$ be two hyperbolic periodic points. We say that p and q are homoclinically related and write $q \sim p$ if the sets of transverse intersection points $W^{\mathrm{u}}(O(p)) \pitchfork W^{\mathrm{s}}(O(q))$ and $W^{\mathrm{s}}(O(p)) \pitchfork W^{\mathrm{u}}(O(q))$ are both nonempty. This turns out to be an equivalence relation (see [43, Proposition 2.1]), and every equivalence class is an invariant subset. The homoclinic class of p is defined to be the closure of the equivalence class of p. (We note that two homoclinic classes may intersect without being identical.) Furthermore (see [43, Corollary 2.7]),

(4.5)
$$H_p = \overline{W^{\mathrm{u}}(O(p)) \wedge W^{\mathrm{s}}(O(p))}.$$

In particular, for any periodic point $q \sim p$ the set $W^{s}(O(q))$ is dense in $H_{p} = H_{q}$. Thus Corollary 4.5 implies the following result:

Corollary 4.6. Let f be a C^1 diffeomorphism, let p be a hyperbolic periodic point, and let H_p be its homoclinic class. Let \mathcal{A} be any continuous cocycle on H_p . Assume that there exists another periodic point q which is homoclinically related to q such that $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{A}|O(p)) \neq \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{A}|O(q))$. Then the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points for \mathcal{A} is meager in the relative topology of H_p .

Of course, the most natural application of the result above is for the derivative cocycle restricted to the homoclinic class.

Corollary 4.5 extends some results that can be found in the literature. We describe here a result by Tian [55].

Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X. We say that f has exponential specification property with exponent $\lambda > 0$ if for any $\delta > 0$ there is $N = N(\delta) > 0$ such that for any $k \ge 1$, any k points $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_k \in X$, any integers $a_1 \le b_1 < a_2 \le b_2 < \ldots < a_k \le b_k$ with $a_i + 1 - b_i \ge N$, one can find a point $y \in X$ such that

$$d(f^{i}(y), f^{i}(x_{j})) < \delta e^{-\lambda \min\{i-a_{i}, b_{j}-i\}}$$

for $a_j \leq i \leq b_j$ and $1 \leq j \leq k$.

Theorem 4.7 (see [55, Theorem 1.3]). Let \mathcal{A} be a Hölder continuous cocycle over a homeomorphism f with the exponential specification property. Then either the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points is meager in X or the cocycle has the same Lyapunov spectrum with respect to all ergodic f-invariant measures.

This result can be easily derived from Corollary 4.5. To see this, observe that the exponential specification property implies that the stable set of any periodic point is dense in X. Now let μ_1 and μ_2 be *f*-invariant ergodic measures with respect to which the cocycle \mathcal{A} has different Lyapunov spectra. By [34, Theorem 1.4], given $\varepsilon > 0$, there are periodic points p_1 and p_2 with respect to which Lyapunov spectra

of the cocycle are ε -close to the corresponding Lyapunov spectra with respect to μ_1 and μ_2 . If ε is sufficiently small, this implies that the Lyapunov spectra at p_1 and p_2 are different. Theorem 4.7 follows.

4.5. All-or-meager results. Here is a related result, this time following from Corollary 4.5 combined with Theorem 3.13:

Theorem 4.8. Let \mathcal{A} be a Hölder continuous cocycle over a transitive Anosov $C^{1+\delta}$ diffeomorphism f of a compact smooth manifold X. Then either the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points is meager in X or $\mathcal{R} = X$ and the cocycle is completely regular.

Notice the sharp contrast between the two alternatives: either the set \mathcal{R} is the whole space, or it is a meager subset. We call statements with this type of conclusion *all-or-meager* results. Another example is Theorem 4.2.

Let us look for other results of this type. Optimistically, one could ask: are the conclusions of Theorem 4.8 valid for any continuous linear cocycle over any homeomorphism of a compact space? The answer is negative, as the following example shows.

Example 4.9. Let $g: Y \to Y$ be a homeomorphism of a compact space admitting a fully-supported Borel probability measure. Let \mathcal{B} be a linear cocycle over g, with generator B, and let $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{B}}$ be the set of LP-regular points. We can easily arrange examples so that $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{B}} \neq Y$ (using Theorem 4.8, for instance). On the other hand, there exists a point $z \in \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{B}}$ whose alpha- and omega-limits are both equal to Y. That is, if $z_n = g^n(z)$, then for any N > 0, the sets $\{z_n : n > N\}$ and $\{z_n : n < -N\}$ are both dense in Y. Now fix an increasing two-sided sequence $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ such that $t_n \to 0$ as $n \to -\infty$ and $t_n \to 1$ as $n \to +\infty$. Consider the following space:

$$X \coloneqq (Y \times \{0,1\}) \cup \{(z_n, t_n) : n \in \mathbb{Z}\},\$$

which is a compact subset of $Y \times [0,1]$. Define a homeomorphism $f: X \to X$ as follows:

$$f(y,t) := (g(y),t) \text{ if } t = 0,1, \quad f(z_n,t_n) := (z_{n+1},t_{n+1}).$$

Finally, define a cocycle \mathcal{A} over f whose generator is $\mathcal{A}(y,t) \coloneqq B(y)$. Then the set $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A}}$ of LP-regular points is not the whole space X, but it is neither a meager set, because it contains the orbit of (z_0, t_0) , which is an open and dense set.

The example above is somewhat unsatisfactory because the map f has wandering points.

Letting f be a transitive Anosov diffeomorphism again, it is an open problem whether Theorem 4.8 remains true if we assume that the cocycle is only continuous, instead of being Hölder continuous.

On the other hand, if we assume that the dynamics is *minimal*, then we have the following all-or-meager dichotomy that applies to all continuous linear cocycles:

Theorem 4.10. Let \mathcal{A} be a continuous cocycle over a minimal homeomorphism f of a compact metric space. Then either the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points is meager in X or $\mathcal{R} = X$ and the cocycle is completely regular.

The proof of this theorem is given in Section 4.7.

Theorem 4.10 extends some previous results such as [25, Theorem 4] and [30, Corollary 1.4].

Johnson and Zampogni asked a question in [33, p. 104], which in our terminology is as follows: Assume that the dynamics f is minimal, and that for all points x and all nonzero vectors v, the forward Lyapunov exponent $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)v\|$ is well-defined; does it follow that the cocycle is completely regular? Note that Theorem 4.10 provides a positive answer to this question under the stronger hypothesis that all points are LP-regular.

4.6. Singular values of cocycles. As a preparation for the proof of Theorem 4.10, we discuss the behaviour of the singular values of the cocycle. Furthermore, under assumption of minimality, we obtain new information about singular values in the absence of dominated splitting (Theorem 4.12).

The singular values of a linear operator $L: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ are the eigenvalues of $\sqrt{L^*L}$, which we list with multiplicity as

$$\sigma_1(L) \ge \cdots \ge \sigma_d(L) \, .$$

Each singular value $\sigma_k(L)$ depends continuously on L. The extreme singular values are the norm $||L|| = \sigma_1(L)$ and the co-norm $m(L) = \sigma_d(L)$. More generally, by the Courant-Fischer principle [29, Theorem 7.3.8], for any $k = 1, \ldots, d$,

$$\sigma_k(L) = \max \left\{ m(A|_E) \colon E \text{ is a subspace of dim. } k \right\}$$
$$= \min \left\{ \|A|_F\| : F \text{ is a subspace of dim. } d - k + 1 \right\}.$$

As a simple consequence, we have the following useful bounds:

(4.6)
$$m(L_3) \,\sigma_k(L_2) \,m(L_1) \leqslant \sigma_k(L_3 L_2 L_1) \leqslant \|L_3\| \,\sigma_k(L_2) \,\|L_1\|.$$

The list of singular values of the exterior power $L^{\wedge r}$ coincides with the list $\sigma_{k_1}(L) + \cdots + \sigma_{k_j}(L)$, where $1 \leq k_1 < \cdots < k_r \leq d$, with repetitions being taken into account.

The Lyapunov exponents of a linear cocycle \mathcal{A} are related to the singular values as follows: for every forward regular point x,

$$\widetilde{\chi}_k(x) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(x, n))$$

Dominated splittings (see Section 2.5) can be detected in terms of separation of singular values as follows:

Proposition 4.11 ([11, Theorem A]). Let f be a homeomorphism of a compact metric space, and let \mathcal{A} be a d-dimensional continuous linear cocycle over f. For every k with 0 < k < d, the cocycle \mathcal{A} admits a dominated splitting with a nontrivial dominating bundle of dimension k if and only if there exist positive constants c and ε such that

$$\frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(x,n))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(x,n))} > ce^{\varepsilon n}$$

for all $x \in X$ and all n > 0.

In the result above, the "only if" part is rather trivial. It is the "if" part that is interesting: the exponential separation of singular values forces the existence of a dominated splitting.

Our next result can be seen as an improvement of Proposition 4.11 under the assumption of minimality:

Theorem 4.12. Let f be a minimal homeomorphism of a compact metric space, and let \mathcal{A} be a d-dimensional continuous linear cocycle over f. Fix k with 0 < k < d. Then the cocycle \mathcal{A} does not admits a dominated splitting with a dominating bundle of dimension k if and only if there exists a residual subset G of X such that for every $x \in G$,

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(x,n))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(x,n))} = 0.$$

Note that the minimality assumption cannot be dropped, as Example 3.12 shows.

Proof of Theorem 4.12. The "if" part is a direct consequence of (the trivial half of) Proposition 4.11. So let us prove the "only if" part. Assume that the cocycle \mathcal{A} admits no dominated splitting with dominating bundle of dimension k. By Proposition 4.11, for every i > 0 there exists $x_i \in X$ and $n_i > i$ such that

$$\frac{1}{n_i}\log\frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(x_i,n_i))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(x_i,n_i))} < \frac{1}{i}$$

Since X is compact and the cocycle is continuous, there exists c > 0 such that

$$\|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\| \leqslant e^{c|n|}$$

for all $x \in X$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Consider the matrix identity

$$\mathcal{A}(f^{j}(x), n) = \mathcal{A}(f^{n}(x), j) \mathcal{A}(x, n) \mathcal{A}(T^{j}x, -j)$$

Using inequalities (4.6),

$$\frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(f^j(x), n))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(f^j(x), n))} \leq e^{4c|j|} \frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(x, n))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(x, n))} \,.$$

In particular, if $|j| < \sqrt{n_i}$, then

$$\frac{1}{n_i}\log\frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(f^j(x_i),n_i))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(f^j(x_i),n_i))} < \frac{4c}{\sqrt{n_i}} + \frac{1}{i} \eqqcolon \varepsilon_i \,.$$

Note that $\varepsilon_i \to 0$ as $i \to \infty$.

Now define a sequence of open sets

$$U_i := \left\{ x \in X : \frac{1}{n_i} \log \frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(x, n_i))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(x, n_i))} < \varepsilon_i \right\} \ .$$

By the previous observations, U_i contains the orbit segment $\{f^j(x_i) : |j| < \sqrt{n_i}\}$. Since $n_i \to \infty$ and f is a minimal transformation, there exists a sequence $\delta_i \to 0$ such that each set U_i is δ_i -dense in X. It follows that, for each m > 0, the set $V_m := \bigcup_{i=m}^{\infty} U_i$ is open and dense. By Baire's theorem, the set $G := \bigcap_{m=1}^{\infty} V_m$ is residual, and in particular dense.

For every point x in G, there exists a sequence $i_j \to \infty$ such that $x \in U_{i_j}$, and so

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{n_{i_j}} \log \frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(x, n_{i_j}))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(x, n_{i_j}))} = 0.$$

Let us highlight a consequence of Theorem 4.12 in the particular context discussed in Example 3.7, Section 3.2:

Corollary 4.13. Let f be a uniquely ergodic homeomorphism of a compact metric space and let \mathcal{A} be a continuous $\mathrm{SL}^{\pm}(2,\mathbb{R})$ -cocycle over f. If the cocycle \mathcal{A} is not uniformly hyperbolic, then there exists a residual subset G_0 of X such that for all $x \in G_0$, the set of accumulation points of the sequence $\frac{1}{n} \log ||\mathcal{A}(x,n)||$ is the interval $[0,\chi_1]$, where $\chi_1 = \chi_1(\mu)$ is the first Lyapunov exponent of the cocycle with respect to the unique f-invariant measure μ .

Note that the result above improves some of the conclusions of [25, Theorem 4].

Proof. For each x, let Λ_x be the set of accumulation points of the sequence $\frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\|$. Then Λ_x is a compact interval (see e.g. [58, Lemma 2.5]). Note that $\Lambda_x \subset [0, \infty)$ because $|\det \mathcal{A}| \equiv 1$, and $\Lambda_x \subset [0, \chi_1]$ due to Proposition 2.3. If $\chi_1 = 0$, there is nothing to show. So, assume that χ_1 is positive. Since the cocycle is not uniformly hyperbolic, by Theorem 4.12 there is a dense set of points x for which $\liminf \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\| = 0$. On the other hand, there is another dense set of points x for which $\liminf \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\| = \chi_1$. The proof of Theorem 4.1 actually shows that if $0 < \alpha'' < \beta'' < \chi_1$, then there is a residual subset of points x such that

$$\liminf \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\| < \alpha'' < \beta'' < \limsup \frac{1}{n} \log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)\|$$

and in particular $\Lambda_x \supset [\alpha'', \beta'']$. Therefore, the set of points x such that $\Lambda_x = [0, \chi_1]$ is residual.

4.7. **Proof of Theorem 4.10.** Recall that, given a ergodic measure μ , its Lyapunov exponents, repeated according to their multiplicities, are denoted $\tilde{\chi}_1(\mathcal{A},\mu) \geq \cdots \geq \tilde{\chi}_d(\mathcal{A},\mu)$.

Lemma 4.14. Let f be a minimal homeomorphism f of a compact metric space. Let \mathcal{A} be a d-dimensional continuous linear cocycle over f and let \mathcal{R} be the set of its LP-regular points. Suppose that \mathcal{A} admits no dominated splitting into non-trivial subbundles. Then:

- either *χ*₁(*A*, μ) = *χ*_d(*A*, μ) for every *f*-ergodic Borel probability measure μ, in which case the set *R* equals *X* and the cocycle *A* is completely regular;
 or *χ*₁(*A*, μ) > *χ*_d(*A*, μ) for some *f*-ergodic Borel probability measure μ, in
- (2) of $\chi_1(\mathcal{A},\mu) > \chi_d(\mathcal{A},\mu)$ for some *j*-ergoarce borer probability measure μ , which case the set \mathcal{R} is meager in X.

Proof. As a first case, suppose that $\tilde{\chi}_1(\mathcal{A},\mu) = \tilde{\chi}_d(\mathcal{A},\mu)$ for every *f*-ergodic Borel probability measure μ . Consider the following "normalized" cocycle

(4.7)
$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}(x,n) \coloneqq |\det \mathcal{A}(x,n)|^{-\frac{1}{d}} \mathcal{A}(x,n) ,$$

whose determinants are ± 1 . Our assumption ensures that all Lyapunov exponents of $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ with respect to all ergodic measures are zero. By Proposition 3.2, the cocycle $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ is completely regular with zero spectrum.

Let $\varphi_n(x) := \log |\det \mathcal{A}(x, n)|$, and let \mathcal{D} be the set of $x \in X$ such that the following two limits exist and coincide:

(4.8)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\varphi_n(x)}{n} = \lim_{n \to -\infty} \frac{\varphi_n(x)}{n}$$

We claim that \mathcal{R} (the set of LP-regular points for \mathcal{A}) equals \mathcal{D} . Indeed, the inclusion $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{D}$ always holds, as for LP-regular points the limit (4.8) will be the sum of the Lyaponov exponents. On the other hand, since $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ is completely regular with zero exponents, it follows from (4.7) that

(4.9)
$$\log \|\mathcal{A}(x,n)v\| - \frac{\varphi_n(x)}{d} = o(|n|)$$

for all $x \in X$ and all nonzero $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$, showing the reverse inclusion $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{R}$.

Applying Theorem 4.2 to f and f^{-1} , we see that the set \mathcal{D} (that is, \mathcal{R}) is either measure or equal to X and, in the latter case, the limits (4.8) equal some constant

 χ . So, when $\mathcal{R} = X$, (4.9) says that all Lyapunov exponents of the cocycle \mathcal{A} are equal to χ and, in particular, the cocycle is completely regular.

Now consider the second case, where there exists an ergodic Borel probability measure μ such that $\tilde{\chi}_1(\mathcal{A}, \mu) > \tilde{\chi}_d(\mathcal{A}, \mu)$. Then, for μ -almost every point y,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(y, n))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(y, n))} = \widetilde{\chi}_k(\mu) - \widetilde{\chi}_{k+1}(\mu) > 0.$$

By minimality of f, the measure μ has full support, so the formula above holds for a dense set of points y. On the other hand, by Theorem 4.12, there is another dense set where the formula fails, and actually the limit of the sequence is 0. Now we can apply Theorem 4.1 and conclude that the set of points z for which

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \frac{\sigma_k(\mathcal{A}(z, n))}{\sigma_{k+1}(\mathcal{A}(z, n))}$$

exists is meager in X. In particular, the set \mathcal{R} of LP-regular points is meager, as we wanted to show.

At last, we can establish our general all-or-meager dichotomy for cocycles over minimal transformations:

Proof of Theorem 4.10. Let \mathcal{A} be an arbitrary continuous cocycle over the minimal dynamics f. Consider the finest dominated splitting of the cocycle (see [12, Theorem B.2]; see also [53,8]), that is, the invariant splitting $E_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus E_s$ which is dominated (i.e., satisfies inequalities (2.10) for some n_0), and the number of bundles s is maximal. The case s = 1 corresponds to the situation where the cocycle admits no dominated splitting into non-trivial subbundles. The subbundles are continuous, by Proposition 2.1. For each i, let \mathcal{R}_i be the set of LP-regular points of the restriction of the cocycle to the i^{th} bundle E_i . By Lemma 4.14, each \mathcal{R}_i is either a meager set or the whole X, and the latter alternative occurs only if the restricted cocycle $\mathcal{A}|E_i$ is completely regular. Note that the set of LP-regular points of \mathcal{A} is $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_1 \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{R}_k$. Therefore, \mathcal{R} is either a meager set or the whole X. Furthermore, if $\mathcal{R} = X$, then for every i we have $\mathcal{R}_i = X$, which implies that each $\mathcal{A}|E_i$ is completely regular, and therefore \mathcal{A} itself is completely regular.

5. Further discussion of the notion of complete regularity

In this section, we return to our definition of complete regularity. Recall that a continuous d-dimensional linear cocycle over a homeomorphism of a compact metric space is completely regular when

- (1) every point is LP-regular, and
- (2) the Lyapunov spectra of all (LP-regular) points are the same.

In this section, we investigate the interdependency of these two conditions. We will construct examples showing that they are essentially independent – in a sense to be made precise.

5.1. All points being regular does not imply complete regularity. By Theorem 4.10, if the dynamics f is minimal, then Condition (1) in the definition of complete regularity does imply Condition (2), that is, if a cocycle has the property that all points are LP-regular, then the Lyapunov exponents do not depend of the point.

On the other hand, if f is non-minimal, then Condition (1) does not imply Condition (2). For example, let f be the automorphism of the two-torus $(\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z})^2$ induced by the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, that is,

(5.1)
$$f(x,y) \coloneqq (x+y,y) \mod \mathbb{Z}^2$$

If we take a continuous cocycle of diagonal matrices, then every point will be LP-regular. But the Lyapunov exponents will not be constant, in general. This example was pointed out before in [33, Example 4.1].

Let us exhibit an example where f is topologically transitive. Consider the group $G := \operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$, the lattice $\Gamma := \operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z})$, and the quotient $N := \Gamma \setminus^G$, that is, the set of right cosets Γg . Then N is a Hausdorff but non-compact space with respect to the quotient topology (actually it is the unit tangent bundle of the modular surface). Let $X := N \cup \{\infty\}$ be the one-point compactification of N. Define $f : X \to X$ by $f(\infty) := \infty$ and

$$f(\Gamma g) \coloneqq \Gamma g\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{smallmatrix}\right)$$

The map f is a homeomorphism and, like the previous example (5.1), is such the Birkhoff averages of every continuous function converge pointwise (see [20, Theorem 5.1]); furthermore, f is topologically transitive. Arguing as before, Condition (1) does not imply Condition (2) for this map f.

The following result provides a similar example with a derivative cocycle of a diffeomorphism.

Theorem 5.1. There exists a topologically transitive diffeomorphism $f: M \to M$ of a compact connected smooth Riemannian manifold M of dimension 11 such that every point $x \in M$ is LP-regular for the derivative cocycle and the set of Lyapunov vectors

$$\{(\chi_1(x), \dots, \chi_{11}(x)) \in \mathbb{R}^{11} : x \in M\}$$

has the power of the continuum.

For our construction we need the following objects:

- (1) The group $G := \text{SL}(3, \mathbb{R})$, which is a simple connected Lie group; we identify $\text{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ with the subgroup consisting of matrices of the form $\begin{pmatrix} * & * & 0 \\ * & * & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$.
- (2) A co-compact lattice $\Gamma \subset G$ such that $\Gamma \cap SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ is a co-compact lattice in $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ (see [59, Exerc. 4, §18.6]).
- (3) The quotient $N := {}_{\Gamma} \backslash^{G}$, that is, the set of right cosets Γg ; this is a compact smooth manifold of dimension 8; we denote by m_N the normalized volume in N which is induced on N by the Haar measure on the group G.
- (4) The one-parameter subgroup of unipotent matrices

$$u^t \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} 1 & t & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the corresponding unipotent flow

$$\varphi^t \colon N \to N$$
$$\Gamma g \mapsto \Gamma g u^t$$

which preserves the volume measure m_N .

(5) A C^∞ strictly positive function $\tau:N\to\mathbb{R}$ whose choice will be specified later.

(6) The Anosov flow $\{\psi^t\}$ which is a suspension flow with constant roof function 1 over an Anosov automorphism of the two-dimensional torus \mathbb{T}^2 given by the matrix $A = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$; we denote by S the 3-dimensional suspension manifold; the flow $\{\psi^t\}$ preserves volume in S which we denote by m_S .

Denote $M := N \times S$. Given $\alpha > 0$, consider a skew-product map $f_{\alpha} : M \to M$ given by:

$$f_{\alpha}(x,y) \coloneqq (\varphi^{1}(x), \psi^{\tau(x)+\alpha}(y)).$$

For every α , the map f_{α} is a C^{∞} diffeomorphism preserving a smooth measure on M. We will show that with an appropriate choice of the parameter α and the function τ , the map f_{α} has the desired properties.

For every point $(x, y) \in M$ we have the following splitting of the tangent space

(5.2)
$$T_{(x,y)}M = T_{(x,y)}(N \times \{y\}) \oplus E^{s}_{f_{\alpha}}(x,y) \oplus E^{u}_{f_{\alpha}}(x,y) \oplus E^{0}_{f_{\alpha}}(x,y),$$

where

(5.3)
$$E_{f_{\alpha}}^{s}(x,y) = E_{\psi^{1}}^{s}(y) \text{ and } E_{f_{\alpha}}^{u}(x,y) = E_{\psi^{1}}^{u}(y)$$

are the one-dimensional stable and, respectively, the one-dimensional unstable subspaces and

(5.4)
$$E_{f_{\alpha}}^{0}(x,y) = \operatorname{Span}\left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right\} = E_{\psi^{t}}^{0}(y).$$

By Ratner's equidistribution theorem [48, Theorem B], for every $x \in N$, the orbit $\{\varphi^n x\}_{n \ge 0}$ is equidistributed with respect to some probability measure m_x on N, that is, for every continuous function $h: N \to \mathbb{R}$, we have

(5.5)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} h(\varphi^{\pm j} x) = \int_N h \, dm_x \, dx$$

The desired properties of the map f_{α} follow immediately from the following three lemmas.

Lemma 5.2. There is a smooth strictly positive function $\tau : N \to \mathbb{R}$ such that the set

$$\left\{\int_N \tau \, dm_x : x \in N\right\}$$

has the power of continuum.

Lemma 5.3. For every smooth strictly positive function $\tau : N \to \mathbb{R}$ there exists a countable set $A \subset \mathbb{R}_+$ such that for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus A$, the map f_α is topologically transitive.

Lemma 5.4. For any choice of a smooth function τ and any $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ the splitting (5.2) is continuous, invariant under df_{α} , and for every $(x, y) \in M$,

(5.6)
$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|Df_{\alpha}^{n}(v)\| = 0 \quad \text{for every } v \in T_{(x,y)}(N \times \{y\}),$$

(5.7)
$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|Df_{\alpha}^{n}| E_{f_{\alpha}}^{s}(x,y)\| = -(\log \lambda) \int_{N} (\tau + \alpha) \, dm_{x} \, ,$$

(5.8)
$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|Df_{\alpha}^{n}| E_{f_{\alpha}}^{u}(x,y)\| = (\log \lambda) \int_{N} (\tau + \alpha) \, dm_{x}$$

(5.9)
$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|Df_{\alpha}^{n}| E_{f_{\alpha}}^{0}(x, y)\| = 0$$

where $\lambda > 1$ is the top eigenvalue of the matrix A. In particular, every point $(x, y) \in M$ is LP-regular.

We proceed with proofs of these three lemmas.

Proof of Lemma 5.2. Let \widetilde{G} be the subgroup of G consisting of the matrices of the form $\begin{pmatrix} * & * & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, that is, the standard copy of $\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ in $\mathrm{SL}(3,\mathbb{R})$. Let $\pi: G \to N$ be the quotient map $\pi(g) \coloneqq \Gamma g$ and let $N_0 \coloneqq \pi(\widetilde{G})$. Since the unipotent subgroup (u^t) is contained in \widetilde{G} , the set N_0 is invariant under the unipotent flow $\{\varphi^t\}$. Recall that our lattice $\Gamma < G$ was chosen so that $\widetilde{\Gamma} \coloneqq \Gamma \cap \widetilde{G}$ is a co-compact lattice in \widetilde{G} . Therefore, the quotient $\widetilde{N} \coloneqq_{\widetilde{\Gamma}} \setminus^{\widetilde{G}}$ is a compact 3-manifold which is actually the unit tangent bundle of a compact hyperbolic surface. We define a unipotent flow on \widetilde{N} by the formula $\widetilde{\varphi}^t(\widetilde{\Gamma}\widetilde{g}) \coloneqq \widetilde{\Gamma}\widetilde{g}u^t$; this is actually the horocycle flow on the unit tangent bundle. Define a map $\widetilde{N} \to N_0$ by $\widetilde{\Gamma}\widetilde{g} \mapsto \Gamma\widetilde{g}$. This map is a homeomorphism, and it conjugates the flows $\widetilde{\varphi}^t$ and $\varphi^t|_{N_0}$. By a theorem of Furstenberg, the horocycle flow $\widetilde{\varphi}^t$ is strictly ergodic (i.e., minimal and uniquely ergodic); furthermore, the time-1 map $\widetilde{\varphi}^1$ is also strictly ergodic: see [22]. We conclude that the submanifold N_0 of N supports a unique φ^1 -invariant measure, which we call m_{N_0} .

Next, consider the one-parameter subgroup of G formed by the matrices of the form

$$a^{s} := \begin{pmatrix} e^{s} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & e^{s} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e^{-2s} \end{pmatrix}, \quad s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Note that $a^s \widetilde{g} = \widetilde{g} a^s$ for every $\widetilde{g} \in \widetilde{G}$, and in particular, $a^s u^t = u^t a^s$. As a consequence, the flow

$$\begin{split} \zeta^s \colon N &\to N \\ \Gamma g &\mapsto \Gamma g a^s \, ; \end{split}$$

commutes with the unipotent flow, that is,

$$\zeta^s \circ \varphi^t = \varphi^t \circ \zeta^s$$

Therefore, the submanifold $N_s := \zeta^s(N_0)$ supports a unique φ^1 -invariant measure, namely $m_{N_s} := (\zeta^s)_*(m_{N_0})$. For every point x in N_s , the measure m_x defined by (5.5) coincides with m_{N_s} .

We have constructed a continuous curve $s \mapsto m_{N_s}$ in the space of φ^1 -invariant Borel probability measures on N (endowed with the weak topology). We will prove that this curve is *non-constant*. Once we do that, the lemma will immediately follow, as it will be sufficient to take any C^{∞} strictly positive function τ for which the function $s \mapsto \int_N \tau \, dm_{N_s}$ is non-constant.

Note that $a^s \notin \tilde{G}$ for all nonzero s. Since the projection $\pi: G \to N$ is a covering map and $\pi(\tilde{G})$ is the compact set N_0 , it follows that $\pi(a^s) \notin N_0$ for all sufficiently small $s \neq 0$. But $\pi(a_s) \in N_s$, and so $N_s \neq N_0$ for all sufficiently small $s \neq 0$. Since N_s is the support of the measure m_{N_s} , this proves that the curve $s \mapsto m_{N_s}$ is non-constant, as we wanted to show.

Proof of Lemma 5.3. Consider the following two dynamical systems on the manifold $M = N \times S$:

• the flow id $\times \psi^t$ whose time t map is $(x, y) \mapsto (x, \psi^t(y))$;

• the diffeomorphism $f_0(x, y) = (\varphi^1(x), \psi^{\tau(x)}y)$.

Note that the flow and the diffeomorphism above commute. Therefore, we obtain an action of the group $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{Z}$ on M. Note that the action preserves the product measure $m_N \times m_S$.

We claim that the product measure is ergodic with respect to the $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{Z}$ -action. Indeed, if $h: M \to \mathbb{R}$ is an invariant bounded Borel measurable function, then it is also invariant under the flow $id \times \psi^t$. Since the measure m_S is ergodic for the flow ψ^t , there exists some bounded Borel measurable function $h_1: N \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $h(x,y) = h_1(x)$ for $m_N \times m_S$ -almost every (x,y). Since $h \circ f_0 = h$, we have $h_1 \circ \varphi^1 = h_1 m_N$ -almost everywhere. Ergodicity implies that h_1 coincides with a constant m_N -almost everywhere. Hence, h is constant $m_N \times m_S$ -almost everywhere, completing the proof of ergodicity.

Note that the element $(\alpha, 1)$ of the $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{Z}$ -action is the diffeomorphism f_{α} . Let A be the set of $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that $(f_\alpha, m_N \times m_S)$ is not ergodic. By a result of Pugh and Shub [46, Theorem 2], the set A is countable. Since the measure $m_N \times m_S$ is positive on open sets, the map f_{α} is topologically transitive whenever it is ergodic. \square

Proof of Lemma 5.4. Equality (5.6) follows from the definition of the map f_{α} , and the following two facts: (a) all the Lyapunov exponents of φ^t are zero; and (b) the Lyapunov exponent of the Anosov flow in its flow direction is zero. Equality (5.9)follows from (5.4) and the fact that the function τ is bounded. To prove equality (5.7) observe that for every n > 0,

$$f^n_{\alpha}(x,y) = (\varphi^n(x), \psi^{n\alpha + \tau_n(x)}(y))$$

 $J_{\alpha}(x,y) = (\varphi^{-}(x), \psi^{\alpha_{k+n}(x)}(y)),$ where $\tau_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \tau(\varphi^k(x))$. By property (5.5), for every $x \in N$ we have

$$\tau_n(x) = n \int_N \tau \, dm_x + o(n)$$

The desired equality now follows from the fact that every $v \in E^{s}(y)$ contracts under the Anosov flow by a constant factor λ^t . The proof of equality (5.8) is similar. \Box

We proved the lemmas and, as explained before, this completes the proof of Theorem 5.1.

5.2. Agreement of Lyapunov spectra does not imply complete regularity. In this subsection we discuss the problem of whether Condition (2) alone is sufficient for complete regularity. Strictly speaking, as stated this condition subsumes the first and so the problem seems hollow. However, we may ask the following meaningful question: Suppose every two points that are LP-regular have the same Lyapunov spectrum. Does it follow that every point is LP-regular?

The answer is negative, as Example 3.12 illustrates. In that example, most points are wandering; in fact, there is no invariant Borel probability measure whose support is X. The next result provides a more interesting example:

Theorem 5.5. There exists a homeomorphism $f: X \to X$ of a compact space X admitting a fully-supported invariant Borel probability measure and there exists a 2-dimensional continuous linear cocycle \mathcal{A} over f with the following properties:

- all LP-regular points $x \in X$ have Lyapunov exponents $\chi_1(x) = c$ and $\chi_2(x) = -c$, where c is a positive constant;
- there exist points in X that are not LP-regular.

In fact, the map f in our example is uniquely ergodic, and so, by Theorem 4.10, points that are not LP-regular for the cocycle \mathcal{A} form a residual subset of X.

We do not know if there exist examples of cocycles over a hyperbolic base dynamics satisfying the conclusions of Theorem 5.5. If that is the case, the matrix maps cannot be Hölder continuous, by Theorem 3.13.

Another question is the following: Assuming Condition (1) in the definition of complete regularity, can Condition (2) be weakened to the following condition (2')?

(2') all ergodic measures have the same Lyapunov spectrum.

We now turn to the proof of Theorem 5.5.

If $f: X \to X$ is a homeomorphism of a compact metric space X, we say that f is a *Veech map* if it is strictly ergodic (i.e. minimal and uniquely ergodic) and f^2 is minimal but *not* uniquely ergodic. Veech maps were first constructed by Veech [57].

Walters [58] has shown that given a Veech map f, one can construct a nonuniformly hyperbolic cocycle with base f. We will construct a specific Walters cocycle with some additional properties which will be instrumental in our proof of Theorem 5.5. For this cocycle we need the base Veech map constructed in [9, Sec. 4] (the idea of this construction is due to Scott Schmieding).

Proof of Theorem 5.5. Let e_1, e_2, \ldots be words in the alphabet $A := \{\uparrow, \downarrow, 0\}$, defined in a recursive manner as follows:

(5.10)
$$e_{1} \coloneqq \uparrow \downarrow, \\ e_{k+1} \coloneqq e_{k}^{k^{2}+1} \, 0 \, e_{k} \, \overline{e_{k}}^{k^{2}+1} \, 0 \, \overline{e_{k}} \,,$$

where $\overline{e_k}$ denotes the word obtained from e_k by switching the arrows. Let X be the subset of $A^{\mathbb{Z}}$ formed by those bi-infinite sequences $\omega = (\omega_i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$ such that for every n > 0, the word $\omega_{-n}\omega_{-n+1}\cdots\omega_n$ occurs as a subword (i.e., a factor) of some e_k . According to [9, Theorem 4.1], X is a closed, shift-invariant subset of $A^{\mathbb{Z}}$, and if $f: X \to X$ is the restricted shift, then f is a Veech map. Define a continuous matrix valued map

$$A(\omega) := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{\varphi(\omega)} \\ e^{-\varphi(\omega)} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{where} \quad \varphi(\omega) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \omega_0 = \uparrow, \\ -1 & \text{if } \omega_0 = \downarrow, \\ 0 & \text{if } \omega_0 = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then [9, Theorem 4.11] states that the corresponding cocycle \mathcal{A} has nonzero Lyapunov exponents (with respect to the unique *f*-invariant measure), and it is not uniformly hyperbolic. Note that for any $\omega \in X$ and n > 0,

$$\frac{1}{n}\log\|\mathcal{A}(\omega,n)\| = \frac{1}{n}\left|\sum_{j=0}^{n-1}(-1)^{j}\varphi(f^{j}(\omega))\right|,$$
$$\frac{1}{n}\log\|\mathcal{A}(\omega,-n)\| = \frac{1}{n}\left|\sum_{j=-n}^{-1}(-1)^{j}\varphi(f^{j}(\omega))\right|.$$

If ω is a LP-regular point, then the two sequences above must converge to the same limit as $n \to \infty$. However, according to [9, Lemma 4.12], this common limit, whenever it exists, is a number c > 0 independent of ω . Therefore all LP-regular points of our Walters cocycle have the same Lyapunov exponents c and -c.

At the same time, since f is uniquely ergodic and \mathcal{A} is not uniformly hyperbolic, we must be in case (3) of Proposition 3.8. Consequently, \mathcal{A} cannot be completely

regular (even though, as we saw above, all LP-regular points have the same spectra).

References

- F. Abdenur, C. Bonatti, and S. Crovisier, Nonuniform hyperbolicity for C¹-generic diffeomorphisms, Israel J. Math. 183 (2011), 1–60. (Cited on pages 2 and 15.)
- [2] E. Akin, The general topology of dynamical systems, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 1, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1993. (Cited on pages 12 and 15.)
- [3] E. Akin, J. Auslander, and A. Nagar, Variations on the concept of topological transitivity, Stud. Math. 235 (2016), no. 3, 225–249. (Cited on page 14.)
- [4] V.M. Alekseev and M.V. Yakobson, Symbolic dynamics and hyperbolic dynamic systems, Phys. Rep. 75 (1981), no. 5, 287–325. (Cited on page 12.)
- [5] L. Arnold, Random dynamical systems, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998. (Cited on page 5.)
- [6] A. Avila and D. Damanik, in preparation. (Cited on page 10.)
- [7] L. Barreira and Ya. Pesin, Nonuniformly hyperbolicity: dynamics of systems with nonzero Lyapunov exponents, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications, Cambridge University Press, 2007. (Cited on pages 4, 5, and 17.)
- [8] A. Blumenthal and Yu. Latushkin, The Selgrade decomposition for linear semiflows on Banach spaces, J. Dyn. Diff. Equat. 31 (2019), 1427–1456. (Cited on pages 6 and 23.)
- [9] J. Bochi, Monochromatic nonuniform hyperbolicity, arXiv:2408.03878 (Cited on page 28.)
- [10] J. Bochi and E. Garibaldi, Extremal norms for fiber-bunched cocycles, J. Éc. polytech. Math. 6 (2019), 947–1004. (Cited on page 11.)
- [11] J. Bochi and N. Gourmelon, Some characterizations of domination, Math. Z. 63 (2009), no. 1, 221–231. (Cited on page 20.)
- [12] C. Bonatti, L.J. Díaz, and M. Viana, Dynamics beyond uniform hyperbolicity: a global geometric and probabilistic perspective, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 102, Springer, 2005. (Cited on pages 5 and 23.)
- [13] T. Bousch and O. Jenkinson, Cohomology classes of dynamically non-negative C^k functions, Invent. Math. 148, No. 1 (2002), 207–217. (Cited on pages 9 and 12.)
- [14] M. Brin, Hölder continuity of invariant distributions, A. Katok et al. (eds.), Proceedings of the AMS Summer Research Institute held at the University of Washington, Proceeding of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, 69, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001, 91–93. (Cited on page 12.)
- [15] M. Carvalho and P. Varandas, Genericity of historic behavior for maps and flows, Nonlinearity, 34 No. 10 (2021), 7030-7044. (Cited on page 15.)
- [16] Y. Chen, Y. Cao, and R. Zou, Uniformity of singular value exponents for typical cocycles, Stoch. Dyn. 23, No. 4 (2023), Article ID 2350036. (Cited on page 12.)
- [17] C. Chicone and Yu. Latushkin, Evolution semigroups in dynamical systems and differential equations, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 70, Am. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999. (Cited on pages 6 and 13.)
- [18] S. Crovisier and R. Potrie, Introduction to partially hyperbolic dynamics, course notes, School on Dynamical Systems, ICTP, Trieste, 2015. (Cited on pages 5 and 16.)
- [19] D. Damanik and D. Lenz, Uniformity aspects of SL(2, ℝ) cocycles and applications to Schrödinger operators defined over Boshernitzan subshifts, arXiv:2207.12153 (Cited on page 10.)
- [20] S.G. Dani, On uniformly distributed orbits of certain horocycle flows, Ergodic Theory Dyn. Syst. 2 (1982), 139–158. (Cited on page 24.)
- [21] J. DeWitt and A. Gogolev, Dominated splitting from constant periodic data and global rigidity of Anosov automorphisms, Geom. Funct. Anal. 34 (2024), 1370–1398. (Cited on page 12.)
- [22] R. Ellis and W. Perrizo, Unique ergodicity of flows on homogeneous spaces, Israel J. Math. 29 (1978), no. 2-3, 276-284. (Cited on page 26.)
- [23] G. Ferreira and P. Varandas, Lyapunov non-typical behavior for linear cocycles through the lens of semigroup actions, arXiv:2106.15676. (Cited on page 2.)
- [24] T. Fisher and B. Hasselblatt, Hyperbolic flows, Zurich Lectures in Advanced Mathematics, EMS Publishing House, Berlin, 2019. (Cited on page 18.)

 \square

- [25] A. Furman, On the multiplicative ergodic theorem for uniquely ergodic systems, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Probab. Stat. 33, No. 6 (1997), 797–815. (Cited on pages 7, 10, 19, and 22.)
- [26] N. Gourmelon, Adapted metrics for dominated splittings, Ergodic Theory Dyn. Syst. 27 (2007), no. 6, 1839–1849. (Cited on page 16.)
- [27] M. Guysinsky, *Linear extensions with narrow Lyapunov spectrum*, unpublished manuscript. (Cited on page 12.)
- [28] M.R. Herman, Construction d'un difféomorphisme minimal d'entropie topologique non nulle, Ergodic Theory Dyn. Syst. 1 (1981), 65–76. (Cited on page 10.)
- [29] R.A. Horn and C.R. Johnson, *Matrix analysis*, 2nd ed., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013. (Cited on page 20.)
- [30] X. Hou, W. Lin, and X. Tian, Ergodic average of typical orbits and typical functions, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 43, no. 7 (2023), 2781–2811. (Cited on page 19.)
- [31] R.A. Johnson, Minimal functions with unbounded integral, Israel J. of Math., 31, No. 2 (1978), 133-141. (Cited on page 15.)
- [32] R.A. Johnson, K.J. Palmer, and G.R. Sell, Ergodic properties of linear dynamical systems, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 18 (1987), no. 1, 1–33. (Cited on page 13.)
- [33] R.A. Johnson and L. Zampogni, Remarks concerning the Lyapunov exponents of linear cocycles, Rend. Ist. Mat. Univ. Trieste 44 (2012), 89–116. (Cited on pages 2, 13, 19, and 24.)
- [34] B. Kalinin, Livsic theorem for matrix cocycles, Ann. of Math. 173, No. 2 (2011), 1025–1042. (Cited on page 18.)
- [35] B. Kalinin and V. Sadovskaya, Cocycles with one exponent over partially hyperbolic systems, Geom. Dedicata 167 (2013), 167–188. (Cited on pages 11 and 12.)
- [36] A. Kocsard, On cohomological C⁰-(in)stability, Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. 44, no. 3 (2013), 489–495. (Cited on page 12.)
- [37] R. Mañé, Quasi-Anosov diffeomorphisms and hyperbolic manifolds, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 229 (1977), 351–370. (Cited on page 6.)
- [38] J.N. Mather, Characterization of Anosov diffeomorphisms, Indag. Math. 30 (1968), 479–483. (Cited on page 13.)
- [39] F. Micena and R. de la Llave, Lyapunov exponents everywhere and rigidity, J. Dyn. Control Syst. 27 (2021), no. 4, 819–831. (Cited on page 15.)
- [40] J. Milnor, Dynamics in one complex variable, 3rd ed., Annals of Mathematics Studies, 160, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2006. (Cited on page 14.)
- [41] I.D. Morris, Mather sets for sequences of matrices and applications to the study of joint spectral radii, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 107, No. 1 (2013), 121–150. (Cited on page 7.)
- [42] J. Moulin Ollagnier and D. Pinchon, Mesures quasi invariantes à dérivée continue, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A 282 (1976), 1371–1373. (Cited on page 9.)
- [43] S. Newhouse, Hyperbolic limit sets, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 167 (1972), 125–150. (Cited on page 18.)
- [44] J.C. Oxtoby, Measure and category, 2nd ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 2, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1980. (Cited on page 14.)
- [45] Ya. Pesin, Lectures on partial hyperbolicity and stable ergodicity, Zurich Lectures in Advanced Mathematics, EMS, Zürich, 2004. (Cited on page 13.)
- [46] C. Pugh and M. Shub, Ergodic elements of ergodic actions, Compos. Math. 23 (1971), 115–122. (Cited on page 27.)
- [47] M.S. Raghunathan, A proof of Oseledec's multiplicative ergodic theorem, Israel J. Math. 32 (1979), no. 4, 356–362. (Cited on page 5.)
- [48] M. Ratner, Raghunathan's topological conjecture and distributions of unipotent flows, Duke Math. J. 63 (1991), no. 1, 235–280. (Cited on page 25.)
- [49] D. Ruelle, Thermodynamic formalism, 2nd edition, Cambridge Mathematical Library, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004. (Cited on page 12.)
- [50] R. Sacker and G. Sell, A note on Anosov diffeomorphisms, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1974) 278–280. (Cited on page 6.)
- [51] R.J. Sacker and G.R. Sell, A spectral theory for linear differential systems, J. Differential Equations 27 (1978), no. 3, 320–358. (Cited on page 13.)
- [52] S. Schreiber, On growth rates of subadditive functions for semiflows, J. Differ. Equations 148, No. 2 (1998) 334–350. (Cited on page 7.)
- [53] J. Selgrade, Isolated invariant sets for flows on vector bundles Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 203 (1975) 359–390. (Cited on pages 6 and 23.)

- [54] R. Sturman and J. Stark, Semi-uniform ergodic theorems and applications to forced systems, Nonlinearity 13, No. 1 (2000), 113–143. (Cited on page 7.)
- [55] X. Tian, Nonexistence of Lyapunov exponents for matrix cocycles, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Probab. Stat. 53, No. 1 (2017), 493–502. (Cited on pages 2, 15, and 18.)
- [56] P. Varandas, Some questions and remarks on Lyapunov irregular behavior for linear cocycles, J.L. Dias et al. (eds.), New trends in Lyapunov exponents, CIM Series in Mathematical Sciences, Springer, Cham, 2023, 161–179. (Cited on pages 2 and 15.)
- [57] W.A. Veech, Strict ergodicity in zero dimensional dynamical systems and the Kronecker-Weyl theorem mod 2, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 140 (1969), 1–33. (Cited on page 28.)
- [58] P. Walters, Unique ergodicity and random matrix products, Lyapunov exponents: Proceedings of a Workshop held in Bremen, 1984, L. Arnold and V. Wihstutz (eds.), Lect. Notes Math., 1186 (1986), 37–55. (Cited on pages 10, 22, and 28.)
- [59] D. Witte Morris, Introduction to arithmetic groups, Deductive Press, 2015. arXiv:math/0106063 (Cited on page 24.)

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, PENNSYLVANIA STATE UNIVERSITY, UNIVERSITY PARK, PA 16802, USA

Email address: bochi@psu.edu

Department of Mathematics, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, USA

Email address: pesin@math.psu.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCES, WEIZ-MANN INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE, 234 HERZL STREET, REHOVOT 7610001 ISRAEL

Email address: omri.sarig@weizmann.ac.il